Trichloroacetic Acid in Drinking-water

Background document for development of WHO *Guidelines for Drinking-water Quality*

© World Health Organization 2004

Requests for permission to reproduce or translate WHO publications - whether for sale of for non-commercial distribution - should be addressed to Publications (Fax: +41 22 791 4806; e-mail: permissions@who.int.

The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the World Health Organization concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by the World Health Organization in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

The World Health Organization does not warrant that the information contained in this publication is complete and correct and shall not be liable for any damage incurred as a results of its use.

Preface

One of the primary goals of WHO and its member states is that "all people, whatever their stage of development and their social and economic conditions, have the right to have access to an adequate supply of safe drinking water." A major WHO function to achieve such goals is the responsibility "to propose ... regulations, and to make recommendations with respect to international health matters"

The first WHO document dealing specifically with public drinking-water quality was published in 1958 as *International Standards for Drinking-water*. It was subsequently revised in 1963 and in 1971 under the same title. In 1984–1985, the first edition of the WHO *Guidelines for Drinking-water Quality* (GDWQ) was published in three volumes: Volume 1, Recommendations; Volume 2, Health criteria and other supporting information; and Volume 3, Surveillance and control of community supplies. Second editions of these volumes were published in 1993, 1996 and 1997, respectively. Addenda to Volumes 1 and 2 of the second edition were published in 1998, addressing selected chemicals. An addendum on microbiological aspects reviewing selected microorganisms was published in 2002.

The GDWQ are subject to a rolling revision process. Through this process, microbial, chemical and radiological aspects of drinking-water are subject to periodic review, and documentation related to aspects of protection and control of public drinking-water quality is accordingly prepared/updated.

Since the first edition of the GDWQ, WHO has published information on health criteria and other supporting information to the GDWQ, describing the approaches used in deriving guideline values and presenting critical reviews and evaluations of the effects on human health of the substances or contaminants examined in drinkingwater.

For each chemical contaminant or substance considered, a lead institution prepared a health criteria document evaluating the risks for human health from exposure to the particular chemical in drinking-water. Institutions from Canada, Denmark, Finland, France, Germany, Italy, Japan, Netherlands, Norway, Poland, Sweden, United Kingdom and United States of America prepared the requested health criteria documents.

Under the responsibility of the coordinators for a group of chemicals considered in the guidelines, the draft health criteria documents were submitted to a number of scientific institutions and selected experts for peer review. Comments were taken into consideration by the coordinators and authors before the documents were submitted for final evaluation by the experts meetings. A "final task force" meeting reviewed the health risk assessments and public and peer review comments and, where appropriate, decided upon guideline values. During preparation of the third edition of the GDWQ, it was decided to include a public review via the world wide web in the process of development of the health criteria documents.

During the preparation of health criteria documents and at experts meetings, careful consideration was given to information available in previous risk assessments carried out by the International Programme on Chemical Safety, in its Environmental Health Criteria monographs and Concise International Chemical Assessment Documents, the International Agency for Research on Cancer, the joint FAO/WHO Meetings on Pesticide Residues and the joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives (which evaluates contaminants such as lead, cadmium, nitrate and nitrite, in addition to food additives).

Further up-to-date information on the GDWQ and the process of their development is available on the WHO internet site and in the current edition of the GDWQ.

Acknowledgements

The first draft of Trichloroacetic Acid in Drinking-water, Background document for development of WHO *Guidelines for Drinking-water Quality*, was prepared by Dr D. Wong, US Environmental Protection Agency, to whom special thanks are due.

The work of the following working group coordinators was crucial in the development of this document and others in the third edition:

Mr J.K. Fawell, United Kingdom (Organic and inorganic constituents)

Dr E. Ohanian, Environmental Protection Agency, USA (Disinfectants and disinfection by-products)

Ms M. Giddings, Health Canada (Disinfectants and disinfection by-products)

Dr P. Toft, Canada (Pesticides)

Prof. Y. Magara, Hokkaido University, Japan (Analytical achievability)

Mr P. Jackson, WRc-NSF, United Kingdom (*Treatment achievability*)

The contribution of peer reviewers is greatly appreciated. The draft text was posted on the world wide web for comments from the public. The revised text and the comments were discussed at the Final Task Force Meeting for the third edition of the GDWQ, held on 31 March to 4 April 2003, at which time the present version was finalized. The input of those who provided comments and of participants in the meeting is gratefully reflected in the final text.

The WHO coordinators were as follows:

Dr J. Bartram, Coordinator, Water Sanitation and Health Programme, WHO Headquarters, and formerly WHO European Centre for Environmental Health

Mr P. Callan, Water Sanitation and Health Programme, WHO Headquarters Mr H. Hashizume, Water Sanitation and Health Programme, WHO Headquarters

Ms C. Vickers provided a liaison with the International Chemical Safety Programme, WHO Headquarters.

Ms Marla Sheffer of Ottawa, Canada, was responsible for the scientific editing of the document.

Many individuals from various countries contributed to the development of the GDWQ. The efforts of all who contributed to the preparation of this document and in particular those who provided peer or public domain review comment are greatly appreciated.

Acronyms and abbreviations used in the text

CAS Chemical Abstracts Service

CoA coenzyme A

DNA deoxyribonucleic acid

EPA Environmental Protection Agency (USA)
IARC International Agency for Research on Cancer

IUPAC International Union of Pure and Applied Chemistry

LD₅₀ median lethal dose

LOAEL lowest-observed-adverse-effect level NOAEL no-observed-adverse-effect level

TDI tolerable daily intake
USA United States of America

Table of contents

1. GENERAL DESCRIPTION	1
1.1 Identity	1
1.2 Physicochemical properties	
1.3 Organoleptic properties	
1.4 Major uses	
•	_
2. ANALYTICAL METHODS	I
3. ENVIRONMENTAL LEVELS AND HUMAN EXPOSURE	2
3.1 Air	
3.2 Water	
3.3 Food	
3.4 Estimated total exposure and relative contribution of drinking-water	
4. KINETICS AND METABOLISM IN LABORATORY ANIMALS AND HUMANS	3
5. EFFECTS ON LABORATORY ANIMALS AND <i>IN VITRO</i> TEST SYSTEMS.	1
5.1 Acute exposure	
5.2 Short-term exposure	
5.3 Long-term exposure	
5.4 Reproductive and developmental toxicity	
5.5 Mutagenicity and related end-points	
5.6 Carcinogenicity	
0.0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	,
6. EFFECTS ON HUMANS	8
7. GUIDELINE VALUE	9
8 REFERENCES	9

1. GENERAL DESCRIPTION

1.1 Identity

CAS No.: 76-03-9 Molecular formula: Cl₃CCOOH

The IUPAC name for trichloroacetic acid is trichloroethanoic acid.

1.2 Physicochemical properties (Verschueren, 1977; Weast, 1988; Budavari et al., 1989; HSDB, 2001)

Property Value Boiling point (°C) 197.5 Melting point (°C) 58.0 Density (g/cm³) 1.62 at 25 °C Vapour pressure (kPa) 0.02 at 25 °C 0.133 at 51 °C pK_a at 25 °C 0.512 - 0.70Water solubility (g/litre) 13 Log octanol-water partition coefficient 1.33 - 1.7

1.3 Organoleptic properties

No information is available on the taste or odour threshold of trichloroacetic acid in water.

1.4 Major uses

Trichloroacetic acid is used as a soil sterilizer and a laboratory intermediate or reagent in the synthesis of a variety of medicinal products and organic chemicals. Medical uses of trichloroacetic acid include application as an antiseptic and a peeling agent. Trichloroacetic acid is also used industrially as an etching and pickling agent for the surface treatment of metals and as a solvent in the plastics industry (Verschueren, 1977; Hawley, 1981; Budavari et al., 1989; Meister, 1989; HSDB, 2001).

2. ANALYTICAL METHODS

The chloroacetic acids can be detected in water by EPA Method 552.1, EPA Method 552.2 or Standard Method 6251B (APHA et al., 1998). In EPA Method 552.1, the haloacetic acids are extracted on a miniature anion exchange column and converted to methyl esters in the eluant prior to analysis. EPA Method 552.2 involves a liquid-liquid extraction procedure, after which the acetic acids are converted to methyl esters (US EPA, 1995). Both EPA methods use gas chromatography and electron capture detection. Standard Method 6251B uses a micro liquid-liquid extraction procedure

1

¹ Conversion factor in air: 1 ppm = 6.68 mg/m^3 .

combined with gas chromatography and electron capture detection. Method detection limits range from <0.1 to 0.4 μ g/litre The practical quantification level for trichloroacetic acid is approximately 1 μ g/litre (P. Fair, personal communication, 2002).

3. ENVIRONMENTAL LEVELS AND HUMAN EXPOSURE

3.1 Air

Trichloroacetic acid can be formed as a combustion by-product of organic compounds in the presence of chlorine (Juuti & Hoekstra, 1998). Stack gases of municipal waste incinerators have been reported to contain trichloroacetic acid at concentrations in the range 0.37–3.7 μg/m³ (Mower & Nordin, 1987). Trichloroacetic acid could be a photooxidation product of tetrachloroethylene and 1,1,1-trichloroethane in the atmosphere (Reimann et al., 1996; Sidebottom & Franklin, 1996; Juuti & Hoekstra, 1998). However, Sidebottom & Franklin (1996) suggested that atmospheric degradation of chlorinated solvents contributes only a minor amount of trichloroacetic acid to the atmosphere, based on mechanistic and kinetic evidence as well as the observed global distribution of trichloroacetic acid in precipitation.

The US National Air Toxics Information Clearinghouse reported that the annual, 8-h and 24-h time-weighted average ambient air concentrations of trichloroacetic acid in the USA were 7, 73.24 and $58.14 \, \mu g/m^3$, respectively, when averaged across seven representative states (NATICH, 1993).

Reimann et al. (1996) reported that levels of trichloroacetic acid in rainwater ranged from 0.01 to 1 μg/litre. It can be assumed that the chlorinated acetic acids detected in rainwater are from the atmosphere. Rainwater in Germany contained 0.1–20 μg of trichloroacetic acid per litre (IARC, 1995). Sidebottom & Franklin (1996) reported that trichloroacetic acid concentrations in rainwater in remote areas (Antarctic, Arctic and sub-Arctic regions) generally ranged from 10 to 100 ng/litre.

3.2 Water

Chlorinated acetic acids are formed from organic material during water chlorination (Coleman et al., 1980; IPCS, 2000). Concentrations of trichloroacetic acid measured in various water sources have been summarized by IARC (1995): in Japan, chlorinated drinking-water contained 7.5 μg of trichloroacetic acid per litre; in Germany, groundwater contained 0.05 μg of trichloroacetic acid per litre; in Australia, a maximum concentration of 200 μg /litre was found for trichloroacetic acid in chlorinated water; and chlorinated water in Switzerland contained 3.0 μg of trichloroacetic acid per litre.

Data for drinking-water supplies in the USA (US EPA, 2001, 2002a) indicate that trichloroacetic acid was detected in groundwater and surface water distribution systems at mean concentrations of 5.3 and 16 µg/litre, respectively; detected

concentrations range from <1.0 to 174 µg/litre in surface water distribution systems and from <1.0 to 80 µg/litre in groundwater systems (US EPA, 2001, 2002a).

Trichloroacetic acid has also been detected in swimming pool water. In a German study of 15 indoor and 3 outdoor swimming pools (Clemens & Scholer, 1992), trichloroacetic acid concentrations averaged 6.2 µg/litre and 94.1 µg/litre in indoor and outdoor pools, respectively. By contrast, the highest concentration of trichloroacetic acid measured in an outdoor pool was 871 µg/litre, with a mean concentration of 420 µg/litre (Kim & Weisel, 1998). The difference between this study and the lower levels reported in the German study may have been due to differences in the amounts of chlorine used to disinfect swimming pools, sample collection time relative to chlorination of the water or addition or exchanges of water in the pools.

3.3 Food

As chlorine is used in food production and processing — including disinfection of chicken in poultry plants; processing seafood, poultry and red meats; sanitizing equipment and containers; cooling heat-sterilized foods; and oxidizing and bleaching in the flour industry (US EPA, 1994) — trichloroacetic acid is likely to be found as a disinfection by-product in meat and other food products (US EPA, 2002a). Trichloroacetic acid can also be taken up from cooking water (Raymer et al., 2001). In addition, there is evidence that trichloroacetic acid may be taken up by plants via the roots or by leaves via uptake from the air (Schroll et al., 1994; Sutinen et al., 1995).

Reimann et al. (1996) examined the concentrations of trichloroacetic acid and other chlorinated acetic acids in a limited number of samples from several vegetables, fruits, grains and beer. Trichloroacetic acid concentrations ranged from <0.2 to 5.9 μ g/kg in vegetables and from <1.6 to 4.1 μ g/kg in grains. Trichloroacetic acid was below the detection limit of 1.5 μ g/kg in breads and 0.6 μ g/kg in wheat flours. It was not detected in fruits or tomatoes.

3.4 Estimated total exposure and relative contribution of drinking-water

Although the available data for trichloroacetic acid are sufficient to demonstrate that food and air are relevant exposure sources in addition to drinking-water, the data are not adequate to quantify the contributions of each source for an overall assessment of exposure.

4. KINETICS AND METABOLISM IN LABORATORY ANIMALS AND HUMANS

Trichloroacetic acid is rapidly absorbed from the gastrointestinal tract in rats (Schultz et al., 1999) and by both the dermal and oral routes in humans (Kim & Weisel, 1998). Following oral and intravenous administration in rats, trichloroacetic acid appears to bind significantly to plasma proteins (Templin et al., 1993; Schultz et al., 1999; Yu et

al., 2000) and also distributes to the liver. A relatively small proportion of trichloroacetic acid is metabolized in the liver. The formation of carbon dioxide, glyoxylic acid, oxalic acid, glycolic acid and dichloroacetic acid was observed in rats and mice following oral administration of 20 or 200 mg of radiolabelled trichloroacetic acid per kg of body weight. The authors suggested that trichloroacetic acid was metabolized by reductive dehalogenation to dichloroacetic acid (Larson & Bull, 1992). Further reductive dehalogenation of dichloroacetic acid to monochloroacetic acid and ultimately to thiodiglycolate has been proposed as a metabolic pathway (Bull, 2000).

Other investigators have suggested that metabolism to dichloroacetic acid may have been over-reported in earlier studies due to analytical artefacts (Lash et al., 2000). In F344 rats given intravenous injections of radiolabelled trichloroacetic acid at doses of 0, 6.1, 61 or 300 μ mol/kg of body weight (approximately 0, 1, 10 or 50 mg/kg of body weight), as much as 84% of the administered radioactivity was excreted in the urine within 24 h of dosing; high-performance liquid chromatographic analyses of plasma, urine and liver homogenate did not detect any oxalate, glyoxalate, glycolate or dichloroacetic acid, suggesting that trichloroacetic acid was poorly metabolized by the rats (Yu et al., 2000).

The primary route of excretion is via the urine (Templin et al., 1993; Schultz et al., 1999; Yu et al., 2000). Approximately 40% of the clearance of trichloroacetic acid from blood following a single intravenous dose of 500 µmol/kg of body weight (approximately 80 mg/kg of body weight) to male F344 rats was accounted for by renal clearance; excretion in faeces was negligible (Schultz et al., 1999). In light of the minimal metabolism observed, the authors suggested that the remaining 54% of the trichloroacetic acid dose was removed from blood primarily by tissue sequestration. In rats exposed to 82 mg/kg of body weight via the intravenous route, the elimination half-life of trichloroacetic acid was 8 h (Schultz et al., 1999). Some limited data on comparative excretion rates in rats and humans are available, based on a study of the inhalation of tetrachloroethylene, which is metabolized to trichloroacetic acid (Volkel et al., 1998). The mean elimination half-life of trichloroacetic acid in urine was 45.6 h in humans, compared with 11.0 h in rats, suggesting that elimination of trichloroacetic acid in rats is more rapid. It is possible, however, that the observed differences may be due to differences in tetrachloroethylene metabolism.

5. EFFECTS ON LABORATORY ANIMALS AND IN VITRO TEST SYSTEMS

5.1 Acute exposure

Oral LD₅₀s of 3320 and 4970 mg/kg of body weight for trichloroacetic acid have been reported in rats and mice, respectively (Woodard et al., 1941). Dosed animals quickly passed into a state of narcosis or semi-narcosis and, within 36 h, either recovered completely or died in the narcotic state.

5.2 Short-term exposure

Groups of male B6C3F₁ mice were given 0, 0.1, 0.5 or 2.0 g of trichloroacetic acid per litre in drinking-water (0, 25, 125 or 500 mg/kg of body weight per day) for 3 or 10 weeks and evaluated for oxidative DNA damage in the liver. After 3 weeks, liver weight was increased in the two highest dose groups, accompanied by increased 12-hydroxylation of lauric acid. After 10 weeks, effects included increased absolute and relative liver weights in the two highest dose groups, a dose-related increase in cyanide-insensitive palmitoyl-coenzyme A (CoA) oxidase activity, increased 12-hydroxylation of lauric acid and increased peroxisome proliferation. Based on these liver effects, the NOAEL was 25 mg/kg of body weight per day (Parrish et al., 1996).

Groups of male Sprague-Dawley rats were exposed to trichloroacetate in drinking-water at a concentration of 5 g/litre (about 312 mg/kg of body weight per day) for 10, 20 or 30 days. No treatment-related changes in body weight, organ weights, gross necropsy or histopathology were found. The NOAEL for this study was 312 mg/kg of body weight per day (Parnell et al., 1988).

Six male F344 rats and eight male B6C3F₁ mice were given trichloroacetic acid by gavage at 500 mg/kg of body weight per day for 10 days. In both species, relative liver weights and cyanide-insensitive palmitoyl-CoA oxidation were increased. There was no effect on relative kidney weights. The LOAEL for liver effects in this study was 500 mg/kg of body weight per day for both rats and mice (Goldsworthy & Popp, 1987).

Male Sprague-Dawley rats (10 per dose) received trichloroacetic acid in drinking-water at 0, 0.05, 0.5 or 5.0 g/litre (0, 4.1, 36.5 or 355 mg/kg of body weight per day) for 90 days. At the two highest dose levels, decreased absolute spleen weight and increased relative liver and kidney weights were observed. At the highest dose, there was focal hepatocellular enlargement, intracellular hepatic swelling, hepatic glycogen accumulation and increased hepatic peroxisomal β-oxidation activity. The NOAEL for this study was 36.5 mg/kg body weight per day (Mather et al., 1990).

Male B6C3F₁ mice were given trichloroacetic acid in their drinking-water at 0, 0.3, 1.0 or 2.0 g/litre (0, 75, 250 or 500 mg/kg of body weight per day, based on strain-specific default values for water intake and body weight) for 14 days. A dose-related increase in liver weight was observed, beginning at 0.3 mg/litre and becoming statistically significant at 1.0 g/litre. Based on these effects, the NOAEL was 75 mg/kg of body weight per day (Sanchez & Bull, 1990).

Male Wistar rats (5–6 per dose) were given water containing 0 or 0.025 g of trichloroacetic acid per litre (0 or 3.8 mg/kg of body weight per day) for 10 weeks. Effects included decreased body weight, changes in serum markers of lipid and carbohydrate metabolism (increased succinate dehydrogenase activity, increased glycogen accumulation and decreased liver triglyceride and cholesterol levels) and decreased kidney glutathione levels. No changes in relative liver weight, serum liver enzyme activity or liver glutathione levels were observed (Acharya et al., 1995). In a

follow-up study using the same experimental protocol and dose level, mild liver and kidney histopathology were noted (Acharya et al., 1997). Based on these effects, the single dose tested, 3.8 mg/kg of body weight per day, was a minimal LOAEL (Acharya et al., 1995, 1997).

5.3 Long-term exposure

Decreased body weight and increased relative liver weights were associated with administration of trichloroacetic acid to female B6C3F₁ mice in drinking-water at concentrations of 0, 0.33, 1.1 or 3.3 g/litre (0, 78, 262 or 784 mg/kg of body weight per day, based on US EPA [1988] conventions for drinking-water intake and body weight for B6C3F₁ mice) for 51 or 82 weeks. Based on significantly increased relative liver weights at 262 mg/kg of body weight per day and above, the NOAEL for this study is 78 mg/kg of body weight per day (Pereira, 1996).

Groups of male F344 rats were given trichloroacetate in drinking-water at 0, 0.05, 0.5 or 5.0 g/litre (0, 3.6, 32.5 or 364 mg/kg of body weight per day) for 2 years. At 364 mg/kg of body weight per day, effects observed included decreased body weight, decreased absolute (but not relative) liver weight, increased serum alanine aminotransferase activity, increased cyanide-insensitive palmitoyl-CoA oxidase activity and increased severity of hepatic necrosis. No changes in kidney, spleen or testis weights were observed. There was no evidence of increased hepatocellular proliferation, as measured by radiolabelled thymidine incorporation rates. At 32.5 mg/kg of body weight per day, a significant decrease in serum aspartate aminotransferase activity was observed. This effect was not considered by the authors to be adverse. Based on non-neoplastic effects, the NOAEL for this study was 32.5 mg/kg of body weight per day (DeAngelo et al., 1997).

5.4 Reproductive and developmental toxicity

Groups of pregnant Long-Evans rats were given trichloroacetic acid by gavage at doses of 0, 330, 800, 1200 or 1800 mg/kg of body weight per day on gestation days 6–15. At 800 mg/kg of body weight per day and higher, effects included decreased maternal body weight gain, dose-related increases in maternal spleen and kidney (but not liver) weights and increased resorptions. At 330 mg/kg of body weight per day and higher, fetal weight and length were significantly reduced, and an increase in the incidence of soft tissue malformations, primarily involving the cardiovascular and renal systems, was observed. Skeletal malformations of the orbit and hydronephrosis were also noted. The maternal LOAEL was 330 mg/kg of body weight per day, based on decreased body weight gain. The developmental LOAEL was 330 mg/kg of body weight per day, based on teratogenic and fetal growth effects; no developmental NOAEL was identified (Smith et al., 1989).

Pregnant Sprague-Dawley rats were given trichloroacetic acid in drinking-water at concentrations of 0 or 2.73 g/litre (0 or 290 mg/kg of body weight per day) on gestation days 1–22. A significant decrease in body weight gain was observed in treated dams relative to controls. Reproductive effects included increased resorptions

and increased cardiac soft tissue malformations. Based on decreased maternal weight gain, the LOAEL for maternal toxicity is the only dose tested, 290 mg/kg of body weight per day, which is also a LOAEL for reproductive and developmental toxicity (Johnson et al., 1998).

Trichloroacetic acid was not observed to exhibit teratogenic potential in a non-mammalian developmental toxicity screening assay with *Hydra attenuata* (Fu et al., 1990).

5.5 Mutagenicity and related end-points

Trichloroacetic acid was not mutagenic in Salmonella typhimurium strain TA100 without metabolic activation (Rapson et al., 1980), but it gave positive results in three in vivo chromosomal aberration assays in mice: the bone marrow assay, the micronucleus test and the sperm head abnormality assay (Bhunya & Behera, 1987); the results were time- and route-dependent (oral gayage or intraperitoneal injection) but did not demonstrate a dose-response. In modified Ames S. typhimurium assays, mixed results have been reported (DeMarini et al., 1994; Giller et al., 1997). In the SOS chromotest (an inducible error-prone repair system), trichloroacetic acid did not show evidence of genotoxicity with or without metabolic activation (Giller et al., 1997). Trichloroacetic acid showed weakly positive mutagenic activity in a mouse lymphoma cell assay and was considered to be one of the least potent mutagens among a range of chemical compounds evaluated in this test system (Harrington-Brock et al., 1998). Mixed results were observed in DNA strand break tests (Nelson & Bull, 1988; Chang et al., 1991), and no chromosomal damage was noted in cultured human peripheral lymphocytes (Mackay et al., 1995). Recent evidence suggests that trichloroacetic acid-induced clastogenicity is secondary to pH changes and not a direct effect of trichloroacetic acid exposure (Mackay et al., 1995).

Although the data are somewhat conflicting, the weight of evidence suggests that trichloroacetic acid has neither significant mutagenic potential nor any structural alerts for mutagenicity. This conclusion is supported by the results from carcinogenicity bioassays in two species (negative in rats, liver tumours only in mice), discussed in the next section.

5.6 Carcinogenicity

Male B6C3F₁ mice received trichloroacetic acid in drinking-water at concentrations of 0, 1.0 or 2.0 g/litre (approximately 0, 178 or 319 mg/kg of body weight per day, based on the study authors' calculations) for 37 or 52 weeks. An increase in the incidence of hepatocellular carcinomas was seen in males in both dose groups. No increases in tumours were noted in females in either dose group (Bull et al., 1990).

Male B6C3F₁ mice (50 per dose group) received 0, 0.05, 0.5 or 5 g of trichloroacetic acid per litre (0, 8, 71 or 595 mg/kg of body weight per day) in drinking-water for 60 weeks. At the two highest doses, a significant increase in the incidences of combined hepatocellular tumours (adenomas and carcinomas) was observed relative to controls

(37.9% and 55.2% in mice receiving 71 and 595 mg/kg of body weight per day, respectively, compared with 13.3% in controls) (US EPA, 1991). In a second experiment, a significantly increased incidence of combined hepatocellular adenomas/carcinomas was also observed in male and female B6C3F₁ mice (50 males and 55 females) given 4.5 g of trichloroacetic acid per litre (583 mg/kg of body weight per day) in drinking-water for 94 weeks (US EPA, 1991).

No evidence of carcinogenicity was observed in groups of male F344 rats (50 per dose group) administered trichloroacetic acid in their drinking-water at concentrations of 0, 0.05, 0.5 or 5.0 g/litre (0, 3.6, 32.5 or 364 mg/kg of body weight per day) for 104 weeks (DeAngelo et al., 1997).

Female B6C3F₁ mice were given trichloroacetate in drinking-water at concentrations of 0, 0.3, 1.1 or 3.3 g/litre (approximately 0, 78, 262 or 784 mg/kg of body weight per day) for 51 or 82 weeks. After 51 weeks at 784 mg/kg of body weight per day, 25% of animals had liver carcinomas, compared with none in the other groups. After 82 weeks, mice in this group exhibited significantly increased incidences of altered hepatocellular foci, adenomas and carcinomas. After 82 weeks at 262 mg/kg of body weight, significant increases in altered foci and carcinomas were also observed. Staining showed that these lesions were predominantly basophilic or mixed basophilic/eosinophilic, lacked expression of glutathione-S-transferase-pi and were consistent with peroxisome proliferation involvement in tumorigenesis (Pereira, 1996).

No treatment-related effects on the mutation patterns of the K- and H-ras protooncogenes were observed in trichloroacetic acid-induced liver tumours in male B6C3F₁ mice, suggesting to the authors that trichloroacetic acid is a tumour promoter, not a tumour initiator (Ferreira-Gonzalez et al., 1995).

In a number of recent mechanistic studies, trichloroacetic acid promoted liver tumours in mice pretreated with *N*-methyl-*N*-nitrosourea, a tumour-initiating agent (Pereira & Phelps, 1996; Tao et al., 1996; Latendresse & Pereira, 1997).

6. EFFECTS ON HUMANS

Trichloroacetic acid has been used clinically in chemical skin-peeling treatments for years, at concentrations of 16.9–50%. This procedure results in a slight erythema and swelling for the first few days post-operatively and is followed by exfoliation of dead skin. Histologically, trichloroacetic acid-induced skin damage is characterized by epidermal loss, early inflammatory response and collagen degeneration (Moy et al., 1996; Tse et al., 1996). Marked erythema and tenderness in the vulvar vestibule area, lasting for 2–15 weeks, have been reported in two cases in which trichloroacetic acid was used for the topical treatment of genital warts (Nunns & Mandal, 1996).

7. GUIDELINE VALUE

Trichloroacetic acid has been shown to induce tumours in the liver of mice. It has given mixed results in *in vitro* assays for mutations and chromosomal aberrations and has been reported to cause chromosomal aberrations in *in vivo* studies. IARC (2002) has classified trichloroacetic acid in Group 3, not classifiable as to its carcinogenicity to humans. US EPA (1994) classified trichloroacetic acid as C, possible human carcinogen, in accordance with the 1986 EPA Guidelines for Carcinogen Risk Assessment (US EPA, 1986). Under the 1999 US EPA Draft Guidelines for Carcinogen Risk Assessment (US EPA, 1999), there is suggestive evidence of trichloroacetic acid carcinogenicity, but the data are not sufficient to assess human carcinogenicity (US EPA, 2002a).

The weight of evidence indicates that trichloroacetic acid is not a genotoxic carcinogen. A TDI of 32.5 μ g/kg of body weight was calculated, based on a NOAEL of 32.5 mg/kg of body weight per day from a study in which decreased body weight, increased liver serum enzyme activity and liver histopathology were seen in rats exposed to trichloroacetate in drinking-water for 2 years (DeAngelo et al., 1997), and incorporating an uncertainty factor of 1000 (100 for intra- and interspecies variation and 10 for database deficiencies, including the absence of a multigeneration reproductive study, the lack of a developmental study in a second species and the absence of full histopathological data in a second species).

On the basis of the TDI of 32.5 $\mu g/kg$ of body weight per day, and assuming a 60-kg body weight, drinking-water consumption of 2 litres/day and an allocation of 20% of the TDI to drinking-water, a guideline value of 200 $\mu g/litre$ (rounded figure) can be calculated for trichloroacetic acid. This guideline value is achievable using commonly available analytical methods.

It is noted that this guideline value is the same as would have been calculated from the TDI established by IPCS (2000), based on the Pereira (1996) study. The DeAngelo et al. (1997) study used to establish the guideline value has better dose definition, evaluated more non-cancer end-points and conducted a full histopathological examination of tissues.

8. REFERENCES

Acharya S et al. (1995) Administration of subtoxic doses of *t*-butyl alcohol and trichloroacetic acid to male Wistar rats to study the interactive toxicity. *Toxicology Letters*, 80:97–104.

Acharya S et al. (1997) A histopathological study of liver and kidney in male Wistar rats treated with subtoxic doses of *t*-butyl alcohol and trichloroacetic acid. *Experimental Toxicology and Pathology*, 49:369–373.

APHA, AWWA, WPCF (1998) Standard methods for the examination of water and wastewater, 20th ed. Washington, DC, American Public Health Association/American Water Works Association/Water Pollution Control Federation.

Bhunya SP, Behera BC (1987) Relative genotoxicity of trichloroacetic acid (TCA) as revealed by different cytogenetic assays: Bone marrow chromosome aberration, micronucleus and sperm-head abnormality in the mouse. *Mutation Research*, 188:215–221.

Budavari S, O'Neill M, Smith A, eds. (1989) The Merck Index. An encyclopedia of chemicals, drugs, and biologicals, 11th ed. Rahway, NJ, Merck.

Bull RJ (2000) Mode of action of liver introduction by trichloroethylene and its metabolites trichloroacetate and dichloroacetate. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 108(Suppl. 2):241–259.

Bull RJ et al. (1990) Liver tumor induction in B6C3F₁ mice by dichloroacetate and trichloroacetate. *Toxicology*, 63:341–359.

Chang LW, Daniel FB, DeAngelo AB (1991) Analysis of DNA strand breaks induced in rodent liver *in vivo*, hepatocytes in primary culture, and a human cell line by chloroacetic acids and chloroacetaldehydes. *Environmental and Molecular Mutagenesis*, 20:277–288.

Clemens M, Scholer HF (1992) Halogenated organic compounds in swimming pool waters. Zentralblatt für Hygiene und Umweltmedizin, 193(1):91–98.

Coleman WE et al. (1980) Identification of organic compounds in a mutagenic extract of a surface drinking water by a computerized gas chromatography/mass spectrometry system (GC/MS/COM). *Environmental Science and Technology*, 14:576–588.

DeAngelo AB et al. (1997) Failure of monochloroacetic acid and trichloroacetic acid administered in the drinking water to produce liver cancer in male F344/N rats. *Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health*, 52:425–445.

DeMarini DM, Perry EP, Sheldon ML (1994) Dichloroacetic acid and related compounds: Induction of prophage in *E. coli* and mutagenicity and mutation spectra in *Salmonella* TA 100. *Mutagenesis*, 9:429–437.

Ferreira-Gonzalez A et al. (1995) *Ras* oncogene activation during hepatocarcinogenesis in B6C3F₁ male mice by dichloroacetic and trichloroacetic acids. *Carcinogenesis*, 16(3):495–500.

Fu L, Johnson EM, Newman LM (1990) Prediction of the developmental toxicity hazard potential of halogenated drinking water disinfection by-products tested by the *in vitro* hydra assay. *Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology*, 11:213–219.

Giller S et al. (1997) Comparative genotoxicity of halogenated acetic acids found in drinking water. *Mutagenesis*, 12(5):321–328.

Goldsworthy TL, Popp JA (1987) Chlorinated hydrocarbon-induced peroxisomal enzyme activity in relation to species and organ carcinogenicity. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, 88:225–233.

Harrington-Brock K, Doerr CL, Moore MM (1998) Mutagenicity of three disinfection by-products; diand trichloroacetic acid and chloral hydrate in L5278Y/TK +/- (-) 3.7.2C mouse lymphoma cells. *Mutation Research*, 413:265–276.

Hawley GG (1981) *The condensed chemical dictionary*, 10th ed. New York, NY, Van Nostrand Reinhold, p. 241.

HSDB (2002) *Hazardous Substances Data Bank*. Bethesda, MD, National Library of Medicine. Available at http://toxnet.nlm.nih.gov/cgi-bin/sis/htmlgen?HSDB.

IARC (1995) Dry cleaning, some chlorinated solvents and other industrial chemicals. Lyon, International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC Monographs on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Humans, Vol. 63).

IARC (2002) Some drinking-water disinfectants and contaminants, including arsenic. Lyon, International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC Monographs on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Humans, Vol. 84).

IPCS (2000) Disinfectants and disinfectant by-products. Geneva, World Health Organization, International Programme on Chemical Safety (Environmental Health Criteria 216).

Johnson PD, Dawson BV, Goldberg SJ (1998) Cardiac teratogenicity of trichloroethylene metabolites. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 32(2):540–545.

Juuti S, Hoekstra E (1998) New directions: the origins and occurrence of trichloroacetic acid.. *Atmospheric Environment*, 32(17):3059–3060.

Kim H, Weisel CP (1998) Dermal absorption of dichloro- and trichloroacetic acids from chlorinated water. *Journal of Exposure Analysis and Environmental Epidemiology*, 8(4):555–575.

Larson JL, Bull RJ (1992) Metabolism and lipoperoxidative activity of trichloroacetate and dichloroacetate in rats and mice. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, 115:268–277.

Lash LH et al. (2000) Metabolism of trichloroethylene. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 108(Suppl. 2):177–200.

Latendresse JR, Pereira MA (1997) Dissimilar characteristics of *N*-methyl-*N*-nitrosourea-initiated foci and tumors promoted by dichloroacetic acid or trichloroacetic acid in the liver of female B6C3F₁ mice. *Toxicologic Pathology*, 25(5):433–440.

Mackay JM et al. (1995) Trichloroacetic acid: investigation into the mechanism of chromosomal damage in the *in vitro* human lymphocyte cytogenetic assay and the mouse bone marrow micronucleus test. *Carcinogenesis*, 16(5):1127–1133.

Mather GG, Exon JH, Koller LD (1990) Subchronic 90-day toxicity of dichloroacetic and trichloroacetic acid in rats. *Toxicology*, 64:71–80.

Meister RT, ed. (1989) Farm chemicals handbook, 75th ed. Willoughby, OH, Meister Publishing Co.

Mower J, Nordin J (1987) Characterization of halogenated organic acids in five gases from municipal waste incinerators. *Chemosphere*, 16(6):1181–1192.

Moy LS, Peace S, Moy RL (1996) Comparison of the effect of various chemical peeling agents in a mini-pig model. *Dermatologic Surgery*, 22(5):429–432.

NATICH (1993) Acceptable ambient concentration guidelines or standards by pollutant. Washington, DC, US Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Air Quality Planning and Standards, National Air Toxics Information Clearinghouse.

Nelson MA, Bull RJ (1988) Induction of strand breaks in DNA by trichloroethylene and metabolites in rat and mouse liver *in vivo*. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, 94:45–54.

Nunns D, Mandal D (1996) Tri-chloroacetic acid: a cause of vulvar vetibulitis. *Acta Dermato-Venereologica*, 76:334–335.

Parnell MJ, Koller LD, Exon JH (1988) Assessment of hepatic initiation–promotion properties of trichloroacetic acid. *Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*, 17:429–436.

Parrish JM et al. (1996) Haloacetate-induced oxidative damage to DNA in the liver of male B6C3F₁ mice. *Toxicology*, 110:103–111.

Pereira MA (1996) Carcinogenic activity of dichloroacetic acid and trichloroacetic acid in the liver of female B6C3F₁ mice. Fundamental and Applied Toxicology, 31:192–199.

Pereira MA, Phelps JB (1996) Promotion by dichloroacetic acid and trichloroacetic acid of *N*-methyl-*N*-nitrosourea-initiated cancer in the liver of female B6C3F₁ mice. *Cancer Letters*, 102:133–141.

Rapson WH, Nazar MA, Butsky VV (1980) Mutagenicity produced by aqueous chlorination of organic compounds. *Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*, 24:590–596.

Raymer JH, Pellizzari ED, Hu Y (2001) Exposures to water disinfection byproducts via food. STAR Drinking Water Progress Review Meeting, 22–23 February 2001. Washington, DC, US Environmental Protection Agency, National Center for Environmental Research.

Reimann S, Grob K, Frank H (1996) Environmental chloroacetic acids in foods analyzed by GC-ECD. *Mitteilungen aus dem Gebiete der Lebensmitteluntersuchung und Hygiene*, 87(2):212–222.

Sanchez IM, Bull RJ (1990) Early induction of reparative hyperplasia in B6C3F₁ mice treated with dichloroacetate and trichloroacetate. *Toxicology*, 64:33–46.

Schroll R et al. (1994) Uptake pathways of organic chemicals from soil by agricultural plants. *Chemosphere*, 28(2):297–303.

Schultz IR et al. (1999) Comparative toxicokinetics of chlorinated and brominated haloacetates in F344 rats. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, 158(2):103–114.

Sidebottom H, Franklin J (1996) The atmospheric fate and impact of hydrochlorofluorocarbons and chlorinated solvents. *Pure and Applied Chemistry*, 68(9):1757–1769.

Smith MK et al. (1989) Teratogenic effects of trichloroacetic acid in the rat. Teratology, 40:445–451.

Sutinen S et al. (1995) The uptake of and structural changes induced by trichloroacetic acid in the needles of Scot pine seedlings. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 46(290):1223–1231.

Tao L et al. (1996) Loss of heterozygosity on chromosome 6 in dichloroacetic acid and trichloroacetic acid-induced liver tumors in female B6C3F₁ mice. *Cancer Letters*, 108:257–261.

Templin MV, Parker JC, Bull RJ (1993) Relative formation of dichloroacetate and trichloroacetate from trichloroethylene in male B6C3F₁ mice. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, 123:1–8.

Tse Y et al. (1996) A clinical and histologic evaluation of two medium-depth peels: glycolic acid versus Jessner's trichloroacetic acid. *Dermatologic Surgery*, 22:781–786.

US EPA (1986) Guidelines for carcinogen risk assessment. US Environmental Protection Agency. Federal Register, 51(185):33992–34003.

US EPA (1988) Recommendations for and documentation of biological values for use in risk assessment. Washington, DC, US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA 600/6-87/008; NTIS PB88-179874/AS).

US EPA (1991) Toxicology of the chloroacetic acids, by-products of the drinking water disinfection process. II. The comparative carcinogenicity of dichloroacetic and trichloroacetic acid: Implication for risk assessment. Research Triangle Park, NC, US Environmental Protection Agency, Health Effects Research Laboratory (Document No. HERL-0820).

US EPA (1994) Final draft for the drinking water criteria document on chlorinated acids/aldehydes/ketones/alcohols. Prepared for Health and Ecological Criteria Division, Office of Science and Technology, Office of Water, US Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, DC (EPA 68-C2-0139).

US EPA (1995) Method 552.2. Determination of haloacetic acids and dalapon in drinking water by liquid-liquid extraction, derivatization and gas chromatography with electron capture detection. Revision 1.0. Cincinnati, OH, US Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Research and Development, National Exposure Research Laboratory.

US EPA (1999) Guidelines for carcinogen risk assessment (SAB review draft). Washington, DC, US Environmental Protection Agency, Risk Assessment Forum (NCEA-F-0644).

US EPA (2001) Stage 2 occurrence assessment for disinfectants and disinfection byproducts (D/DBPs). Washington, DC, US Environmental Protection Agency.

US EPA (2002a) Final draft for the addendum to drinking water criteria document for monochloroacetic acid and trichloroacetic acid. Prepared for Health and Ecological Criteria Division, Office of Science and Technology, Office of Water, US Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, DC (EPA-822-R-02-036).

US EPA (2002b) *Information Collection Rule (ICR) database*. Washington, DC, US Environmental Protection Agency. Available at http://www.epa.gov/enviro/html/icr/index.html.

Verschueren K (1977) Handbook of environmental data on organic chemicals. New York, NY, Van Nostrand Reinhold.

Volkel W et al. (1998) Biotransformation of perchloroethene: Dose-dependent excretion of trichloroacetic acid, dichloroacetic acid, and *N*-acetyl-*S*-(trichlorovinyl)-l-cysteine in rats and humans after inhalation. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, 153:20–27.

Weast RC, ed. (1988) Handbook of chemistry and physics. Cleveland, OH, CRC Press.

Woodard G et al. (1941) The acute oral toxicity of acetic, chloroacetic, dichloroacetic and trichloroacetic acids. *Journal of Industrial Hygiene and Toxicology*, 23:78–82.

Yu KO et al. (2000) *In vivo* kinetics of trichloroacetate in male Fischer 344 rats. *Toxicological Sciences*, 54:302–311.